ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Court erred in finding that the petitioner was not a qualified individual under the 

provisions of the West Virginia Human Rights Act (see item 40, Summary Judgment Order, 

Appendix page 20). This Court should review this conclusion oflaw because, in fact, Mr. Woods 

was a qualified individual under the act and he was subject to an adverse employment decision on 

the basis of his disability. Petitioner has a disability, i.e., above the knee amputation of the left leg 

(see Item 9, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix page 13). This Court should review this issue as 

the facts fully support that petitioner was a qualified individual under the provisions of the West 

Virginia Human Rights Act. 

2. The Court erred in finding that Jefferds Corporation was fully entitled to rely on the 

conclusions ofthe physician who examined Mr. Woods, when there was sufficient evidence to rebut 

the physician's conclusions (see Item 43, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix page 21). Petitioner 

does not rely upon an unsupported statement that he can climb ladders. He is fully prepared, by 

virtue of video evidence, and a functional capacity evaluation, to show that he can climb ladders 

despite the employment physical examination. This Court should review this issue as sufficient 

evidence exists to rebut the trial court's ruling. 

3. The Court erred in finding that petitioner's medical evidence was insufficient (see Item 

44, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix page 21). This Court should review this conclusion oflaw 

as the ability to climb ladders is not an opinion, but a fact, as demonstrated by video evidence 

petitioner is prepared to offer in support of his statement that he can climb ladders. And a functional 

capacity examination performed by Doug James (see Item 46, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix 

page 22). This COUl1 should review this issue for this reason. 



4. The Court erred in finding that Mr. Woods refused to accept the limitations of his 

disability (see Item 48, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix page 22-23). This Court should review 

this finding because the petitioner did not need an accommodation for climbing a ladder. As such, 

it was not a refusal to accept the limitations of his disability. 

5. The Court erred in relying on Pesterjield v. Tennessee Valley Authority, 941 F.2d 437, 

433 (6th Circuit 1991). (See Item 50, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix page 23-24). In 

Pesterjield. supra the opinion of the Court was based upon a weighing of the evidence. That was 

a bench trial and not the subject of a summary judgment order. Petitioner has made a prima facie 

case for disability discrimination and that prima facie case should defeat a motion for summary 

judgment. In Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W. Va. 99, 464 S.E.2d 741 (1995), Justice Cleckley 

cautioned circuit courts to be particularly careful in granting summary judgment in employment 

discrimination cases. For this reason this Court should review this conclusion. 

6. The Court erred in finding that the respondent did not act with discriminatory intent (see 

Item 53, Summary Judgment Order, Appendix page 24). In fact, the failure to hire was based upon 

inability to climb ladders and squat. The intent was based upon the employer's physical examination 

and the employer's reliance thereon. For this reason this Court should review this issue. 

7. The Court erred in finding that the petitioner's arrest on a drug charge was sufficient to 

satisfy the "after-acquired evidence doctrine," (see Item 76 and 77, Summary Judgment Order, 

Appendix page 30-31). This Court should review this finding as a simple arrest is not sufficient basis 

for satisfying the after-acquired evidence rule. This Court should review this conclusion oflaw in 

light of the guidance under the EEOC "Consideration of Arrest and Conviction Records III 

Employment Decisions Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964," which states: 
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"The fact of an arrest does not establish that criminal conduct has 
occurred and an exclusion based on arrest in itself is not job related 
and consistent with business necessity. However, an employer may 
make an employment decision based on the conduct underlying the 
arrest if the conduct make the individual unfit for the position in 
question." (See "Plaintiffs Response to Defendant's Supplemental 
Motion for Summary Judgment on Damages.) 

To make an arrest a basis for satisfying the after-acquired evidence rule is in and of itself "wrongful 

discrimination. For this reason this Court should review this issue. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Plaintiff Donald Woods is an electronic mechanic repair technician (Appendix page 366, 

page 28, lines 12-19). His job is to repair what engineers create (Appendix page 364, page 19, lines 

9-21). He holds a degree from the National Institute of Technology (Appendix page 365, page23 , 

lines 7 -8). Mr. Woods has worked for a number of companies in his career. At the time of deposition 

he was an on-call employee at West Virginia Steel Corporation (Appendix page 361, page 7, lines 

13-14). He lost his left leg above the knee in a motorcycle accident in 2003 (Appendix page 365 , 

page 22, lines 5-8). Mr. Woods wears a left leg prosthetic. 

Jefferds Corporation is a servicing company which services a wide variety of equipment, 

including specialized cranes, vehicles (such as forklifts), and assembly line equipment at the Toyota 

manufacturing plant in Buffalo, West Virginia (Circuit Court order October 4,2017, Appendix page 

11). Plaintiff made application to the defendant for employment as an engineering equipment 

mechanic on or about September 18,2013 (see allegation 10, Plaintiff s Complaint, Appendix page 

14). Plaintiff had made an application for the very same position at lefferds in 2007 (Appendix page 

373, page 55, lines 23-24; page 56, lines 1-11). At that time he was awarded an interview, but was 

not hired (Appendix page 373-374, page 57, lines 14-24; page 58, lines 1-12). Plaintiff provided 
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defendant with his resume and, in an exchange of emails, set up an appointment for an interview 

(Appendix page 374-375, page 60, lines 6-13; page 61, lines 6-17). At this point communications 

between Jefferds Corporation and the plaintiff broke do\\'l1 and plaintiff filed a complaint with the 

West Virginia Human Rights Commission (Appendix page 376, page 69, lines 5-18). In response 

to the Human Rights complaint, it was offered that Randy Harrison, site supervisor at the Toyota 

plant for Jefferds, with whom Mr. Woods had been communicating, was hospitalized and that was 

the reason the plaintiff had no response to his application (Appendix page 377-378, page 73, lines 

11-24; page 74, linesl-7). Mr. Woods reached out to Jefferds Corporation and an interview was 

arranged (Appendix page 378, page 74, lines 8-10). 

The initial interview, according to the plaintiff, was with Randy Harrison and Ann 

Schoolcraft, then human resource manager for Jefferds Corporation. During that interview plaintiff 

disclosed to the representatives of Jefferds that he had a prosthetic leg (Appendix page 379, page 80, 

lines 20-23). Also present was Mark Johnson, then West Virginia operations manager for Jefferds. 

The first interview went well and Mr. Woods filled out an application for employment at Jefferds 

(Appendix page 381, page 87, lines 6-24; page 88, lines 1-13). 

The second interview was set, at which Randy Harrison was present (Appendix page 381, 

page 89, lines 6-7). Subsequently, Mr. Woods was offered employment at Jefferds (Appendix page 

382, page 91, lines 9-20; page 92, lines 1-6). It was about that time that Mr. Woods was informed 

that he would have to take a pre-employment physical. This physical was set up and took place either 

on February 17,2014 or February 18,2014 (Appendix page 417-418). On the physical examinations 

form of .Tefferds the physician doing the examination commented that plaintiff would be, "unable 

to do jobs that require squatting or climbing ladders," (Appendix page 417-418). Due to differences 
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in dates, plaintiff was of the suspicion that the doctor filled out the form before examining him 

(Appendix page 384-385, page 101, lines 3-6; page 103, lines 15-24). A third meeting between 

representatives of J efferds Corporation and the plaintiff was alTanged. It was at that time that the 

results of the physical examination were discussed and plaintiff was advised that he could not have 

the job (Appendix page 385-386, page 105, line 24; page 106, lines 1-5). It was at that point that Mr. 

Woods told the representatives of Jefferds that he could climb ladders and that he could partially 

squat (Appendix page 386, page 109, line 7) and can partially squat (Appendix page 386, page 109, 

lines 13-15). 

Plaintiff maintains that he can climb ladders, as evidenced by a functional capacity evaluation 

conducted on April 3, 2003, where it is stated that, "Patient ascended 4 rings on an extension ladder 

x 5 repetitions with a safe, stable right step-in pattern," (Appendix page 422 ). The Jefferds physician 

did not have the plaintiff climb a ladder. Plaintiff asserts that he can assume some alternative 

positions to squatting or can perform activities associated with squatting with reasonable 

accommodation. Thereafter, plaintiff filed a civil action against Jefferds corporation alleging 

disability discrimination, as well as intentional infliction, and negligent infliction of emotional 

distress. After discovery, defendant filed two motions for Summary Judgment. An initial Motion and 

a Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment on Damages. Oral argument was presented to the 

trial court and thereafter the Court issued its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment. To which plaintiff now brings this appeal to this honorable court. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

For purposes of this appeal, plaintiff withdraws his counts for Intentional Infliction of 

Emotional Distress and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress. Plaintiff continues his appeal on 

5 



the wrongful discharge complaint. 

The defendant argues that plaintiff could not perfoml the essential functions of the job of 

Engineering Equipment Mechanic. It is plaintiffs argument that he was not given an opportunity to 

present a reasonable accommodation to address his handicap. 

In determining reasonable accommodation W. Va. C.S.R. §77-1-4.4 provides as follows: 

"'Reasonable accommodation' means reasonable modifications or 
adjustments to be determined on a case-by-case basis which are designed as 
attempts to enable an individual with a disability to be hired or to remain in 
the position for which he was hired. Reasonable accommodation requires that 
an employer make reasonable modifications or adjustments designed as 
attempts to enable an individual with a disability to remain in the position for 
which shelhe was hired." 

The employer has a duty to look beyond the mere conclusions contained in the employment medical 

examination. As stated in Barnett v. Us. Air, Inc., 228 F.3d 1105 (2000), reversed on other grounds, 

us. Airways, Inc. v. Barnett, 535 U.S. 391, 152 L. Ed. 2d 589,122 S. Ct. 1516: 

"T 0 determine the appropriate reasonable accommodations it may be 
necessary for the [employer] to initiate an informal, interactive process with 
the qualified individual with a disability in need of accommodation. This 
process should identify the precise limitations resulting from the disability 
and potential reasonable accommodations that could overcome those 
limitations. " 

No such "interactive process" was undertaken in the case at bar. The defendant took the 

medical examination on its face and did not even make an attempt at an interactive process to 

determine whether the plaintiff could perform the essential functions of the job as Engineering 

Equipment Mechanic. At the very least the defendant should take into consideration the plaintiff s 

assertion that he could climb ladders, despite what the doctor says, and could perform activities 

involving squatting from another postural position, such as kneeling or by using a small seat. This 
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would have been a reasonable course of action for the employer to take to satisfy statutory and 

regulatory criteria. 

Summary Judgment 

In order to prove disability discrimination under the West Virginia Human Rights Act the 

Plaintiff must establish a prima facie case by offering evidence that (1) he is disabled within the 

meaning of the Act, (2) he is a qualified individual with a disability under the Act, and (3) an adverse 

employment action was taken against him on account of the disability. Syl. Pt. 2, Morris Mem '1 

Convalescent Nursing Home, Inc. v. West Virginia Human Rights Comm 'n, 189 W. Va. 314, 431 

S.E.2d 353 (1993) states as follows: 

"The burden then shifts to the employer to rebut the complainant's 
prima facie case by presenting a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason for such 
person's discharge. If the employer meets this burden, the complainant must 
prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the employer's proffered 
reason was not a legitimate reason but a pretext for the discharge." 

Jefferds focused its argument before the trial court on plaintiff s presumed inability to meet 

the second element of the prima facie case, i.e., that he was a qualified individual with a disability. 

The Rules of the West Virginia Human Rights Commission define "Qualified Individual with a 

Disability means an individual "who is able and competent, with reasonable accommodation, to 

perform the essential functions of the job" (W. Va. C.S.R. § 77-1-4.2). '''Able and Competent' 

means that, with or without reasonable accommodation, an individual is currently capable of 

performing the work and can do the work without posing a direct threat.. .of injury to the health and 

safety of either other employees or the public" (ld. § 77-1-4.3). "An employer shall make reasonable 

accommodation to the known physical or mental impairments of qualified individuals with 
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disabilities where necessary to enable a qualified individual with a disability to perform the essential 

functions of the job" (Id. §77-1-4.5, emphasis added). 

It is lefferds hypothesis that because Mr. Woods did not ask for a reasonable accommodation, 

he cannot state a claim for failure to provide a reasonable accommodation. 'Whether or not Mr. 

Woods states a claim for failure to provide a reasonable accommodation, Jefferds has failed to show 

that plaintiff has not made out a prima facie case of disparate treatment on account of his disability. 

Mr. Woods can present evidence that he can perform the essential functions of climbing ladders and 

squatting with reasonable accommodation. Jefferds does not dispute the conclusion ofMr. Woods' 

medical examination. Nonetheless, lefferds cannot simply walk away from its obligations under the 

Human Rights Act. 1 The opinion of Jefferds' physician provides some evidence that Mr. Woods 

cannot perform the essential job functions of the job without reasonable accommodation, triggering 

the employer's obligation under Human Rights Commission Rule §77-1-4.5 to "make reasonable 

accommodation to the known physical or mental impairments of qualified individuals with 

disabilities where necessary to enable a qualified individual with a disability to perform the essential 

functions of the job" (W. Va. C.S.R. §77-1-4.5, emphasis added). 

Jefferds has made no effort to determine whether a reasonable accommodation of a known 

disability would permit Mr. Woods to perform the job. Rather, Jefferds stated before the trial court 

that after receiving the physician's report, it met with Mr. Woods and told him that because he could 

not climb ladders and squat, "Jefferds would be unable to hire him." The fact that Mr. Woods asked 

for a reasonable accommodation for the job requirement of lifting 75 pound objects, but did not 

IA legislative rule proposed by an agency and approved by the Legislature, such as the 
rules of the Human Rights Commission, "has the force and effect of the law." Smith v. W. 
Virginia Human Rights Comm'n, 216 W. Va. 2, 9, 602 S.E.2d 445, 452 (2004). 
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specifically request an accommodation for climbing ladders or squatting does not absolve lefferds 

of its obligation to consider a reasonable accommodation of a known disability so that Mr. Woods 

could be hired (See Id. §77-1-4.4). Interestingly, in reciting its willingness to accommodate Mr. 

Woods' inability to lift 75 pound objects, Jefferds does not state that it first told Mr. Woods that 

.Tefferds could not hire him before Mr. Woods requested the accommodation, as lefferds reports it 

did when the employer informed Mr. Woods that the medical report showed that he could not 

perform the essential functions of climbing ladders and squatting . .Tefferds' inconsistent treatment 

of different physical limitations is some evidence of pretext, and "proof of pretext can by itself 

sustain a conclusion that the defendant engaged in unlawful discrimination" (see Skaggs v. Elk Run 

Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51, 73, 479 S.E.2d 561,583 [1996]). 

Before the trial court defendant argued the case of Pester field 1'. Tennessee Valley Authority, 

941 F .2d 437 (6th Circuit 1991), as authority for the proposition that the employer could rely on the 

employee's treating physician that Plaintiff could not work without accommodation, which the 

employer determined was umeasonable. In that case there was substantial evidence that the Plaintiff 

could not preform him normal work duties. There was no assertion by the employee that he could 

do his normal work duties. Pester field complained only that the plant physician would not certify 

that his emotional disorders were not work related. The evidence in the case at bar shows that 

Defendant's physician never asked Plaintiff whether he could climb ladders; the physician just 

assumed that Plaintiff could not. Pestelfield. supra was not a claim under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act. It was a claim under the Rehabilitation Act of 1974. Pester field had his opportunity 

to rebut the medical evidence which was not the situation in the case at bar. 

Defendant also cited Johnson 1'. Cleveland City School District, 443 Fed. Appx. 974 (6 th 
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Circuit 2011), in support of its position.2 Here agam Plaintiff Johnson was gIven multiple 

opportunities to accommodate his disabilities. Plaintiff in the case at bar was given no chance or 

opportunity to rebut the assertion that he could not climb ladders or accommodate for squatting. 

The West Virginia Human Rights Act is remedial legislation that should be liberally 

construed in favor or "cur[ing] the social maladies of intentional and unnecessary denials of job 

opportunities to persons with disabilities" (see Skaggs, 198 W. Va. At 64, 479 S.E.2d at 574). 

Accordingly, evaluation of a prima facie case is not merely an academic exercise. Jefferds should 

not be permitted to avoid its obligation to consider a reasonable accommodation of a known 

impairment simply because the job applicant disagreed with the conclusion of Jefferds' examining 

physician. There was no attempt by Jefferds to engage Mr. Woods in an interactive process when 

Jefferds apparently understood there was an obvious need for reasonable accommodation. Under the 

Human Rights Commission Rules, J efferds had this duty whether or not the applicant disagreed with 

its medical conclusion. Accordingly, even if the Court were to find that Jefferds was allowed to rely 

on the conclusion of its physician, even ifthat assessment was inaccurate, Jefferds still was required 

to probe further to determine whether a reasonable accommodation could be made. Perhaps Jefferds 

would be relieved of that obligation if Mr. Woods refused to cooperate. However, that is not the 

record presented by this case. The facts as described by Jefferds are that the employer determined 

Mr. Woods could not climb ladders or squat Jefferds told Mr. Woods that it could not hire him, and 

Mr. Woods disagreed with the findings of Jefferds' physician . .Tefferds does not claim to have made 

overtures regarding a reasonable accommodation to Mr. Woods, which he rebuffed. On this record, 

2 It is not clear what authority this case has. It was not recommended for full text 
publication. 
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Jefferds is not entitled to summary judgment on the disability discrimination claim. 

The court is directed to pages 417 and 418 of the Appendix. This is the medical report upon 

which the plaintiff was disqualified for employment. Please note the change in dates. This change 

brings into question the validity of the document. Plaintiff argues that the date change raises the 

argument that the whole report is merely a pretext upon which to disqualify the plaintiff from 

employment. 

Summary Judgment on Damages 

Defendant moved for Summary Judgment on damages by motion dated April 13, 2017. 

Defendant alleges that plaintiff is not entitled to damages because, during the course of litigation, 

the defendant learned of grounds which, if known during the application process, would have 

resulted in a decision not to offer the plaintiff a job. Specifically, the defendant asserted that had it

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