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

U.S. at 610). This case is devoid of any evidence or factual dispute about a discriminatory 

animus for Jefferds' decision not to hire Plaintiff. Jefferds was aware of Mr. Woods' disability 

from the outset of the application process and it continued with its efforts to hire him, ultimately 

offering him the job. (JA 375-82). The record is without conflict that Mr. Woods' prosthesis 

was no bar to Jefferds' desire to hire Plaintiff. What ultimately mattered was Mr. Woods' ability 

to perform the essential functions of the position with or without a reasonable accommodation. 

Although Dr. Franco determined that Mr. Woods could not perform the essential functions of the 

job, there is not a scintilla of evidence that any employment decision Jefferds made was 

motivated by Plaintiff's prosthesis itself. Jefferds did not fail to hire Plaintiff because of his 

prosthesis; rather, it was unable to hire him because he was not medically cleared to work. 

Plaintiff's disability claim is accordingly without merit and the Circuit Court's award of 

Summary Judgment to Jefferds should be upheld on this independent basis. 

D. Jefferds engaged in the interactive process and satisfied its duty to reasonably 
accommodate Mr. Woods (ADEs 1. 2, 4, 5, 6). 

Mr. Woods did not include a separate claim in his Complaint alleging that Jefferds failed 

to reasonably accommodate him, but he contends in his Petition that Jefferds failed to engage in 

the interactive process to determine whether a reasonable accommodation could be made for Mr. 

Woods. (Petitioner's Br. pp 6-8). To establish a breach of an employer's duty of reasonable 

accommodation, a plaintiff must show the following elements: 

1. The plaintiff is a qualified person with a disability; 

2. the employer was aware of the plaintiffs disability; 
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3. the plaintiff required an accommodation In order to perform the essential 

functions of a job; 

4. a reasonable accommodation existed that met the plaintiffs needs; 

5. the employer knew or should have known of the plaintiffs need and of the 

accommodation; and 

6. the employer failed to provide the accommodation. 

Stone v. St. Joseph's Hosp., 208 W. Va. 91, 100 (2000). "An employer may defend against a 

claim of reasonable accommodation by disputing any of the above elements or by proving that 

making such accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the employer." Skaggs, 198 

W. Va. at 66. "To be sure, our discrimination laws are not a form of job assurance for handicap 

individuals or any other protected class members." Id. at 79. 

lefferds has already established that Mr. Woods was not a qualified individual with a 

disability (see Argument Section II.B, supra), and that should end the inquiry. Further, as a 

factual matter, the record is clear that lefferds did engage in the interactive process and offered 

Mr. Woods the exact accommodations he requested: a waiver of the steel toe boot requirement 

and assistance with the 75-pound lifting requirement. (See Statement of the Case Section II.B, 

supra). Petitioner's deposition testimony forecloses his argument that lefferds failed to further 

accommodate him: 

Q. Okay. What would be a reasonable accommodation -

A. For? 

Q. -for climbing a ladder for you? 

A. I wouldn't need one. 

Q. Okay 

16 



A. I never said I needed to - an accommodation to climb a 
ladder. I said I needed an accommodation to push zero to 
75 pounds and walk with it. I also requested 
accommodation to wear a tennis shoe instead of a steel toe 
boot. Those are the accommodations that I requested. 

(JA 384-85). To be clear, Mr. Woods' argument is that lefferds failed to provide an 

accommodation he would not accept. This position is fatal to Petitioner's accommodation claim. 

An individual who will not accept an accommodation is not a "qualified" individual under the 

Act: "if such individual rejects a reasonable accommodation ... that is necessary to enable the 

individual to perform the essential functions of the position held or desired, and cannot, as a 

result of that rejection, perform the essential functions of the position, the individual will not be 

considered qualified." 29 CFR 1630. 9( d). 

Finally, even if Plaintiffs testimony did not foreclose his accommodation claim, lefferds 

was under no obligation to engage in a second interactive process once Dr. Franco determined 

that Mr. Woods was unable to perform jobs that required him to squat or climb ladders. As the 

United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia observed in Kitchen v. 

Summers Continuous Care Ctr., LLC, 552 F.Supp.2d 589, 595 (S.D.W.V. 2008), an employer's 

duty to reasonably accommodate, "including its duty to engage in a dialogue regarding 

reasonable accommodation - is triggered at the time the employee provides her employer with a 

release from her medical health care professional which essentially states that the employee has 

the ability to perform the essential functions of her job with reasonable accommodation." 

Kitchen, 552 F.Supp.2d at 595 (emphasis original) (quoting Ferguson v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 

114 F.Supp.2d 1057, 1069 (E.D. Wash 2000). Absent such a release, the employer's "duty to 

engage in a dialogue regarding the accommodation was not triggered." Kitchen, 552 F.Supp.2d 

at 595 (emphasis added) (citing Haschmann v. Time Warner Entm't Co., L.P., 151 F.3d 591, 601 
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(7th Cir. 1998). Because Plaintiff s medical evaluation concluded he could not perform the 

essential functions of the job, and because Plaintiff rejected any potential accommodations for 

those functions, his accommodation claim fails as a matter of law.9 

III. Summary Judgment on Damages was Properly Granted 

A. Under the after-acquired evidence doctrine, Mr. Woods' drug dealing arrest and 
confession can bar him from recovery even if his liability claim did not fail as a 
matter of law (which it does) (AOE 7). 

If an employer discovers, after taking an adverse employment action against an employee 

or applicant, "that the employee engaged in wrongdoing prior to" the adverse action, "such 

'after-acquired evidence of the employee's wrongdoing bears on the specific remedy to be 

ordered.' " Barlow v. Hester Indus., 198 W. Va. 118, 132,479 S.E.2d 628, 642 (1996) (quoting 

McKennon v. Nashville Banner Pub!. Co., 513 U.S. 352,360, 115 S. Ct. 879, 885 (1995)). "In 

determining appropriate remedial action, the employee's wrongdoing becomes relevant ... to 

take due account of the lawful prerogatives of the employer in the usual course of its business 

and the corresponding equities that it has arising from the employee's wrongdoing." McKennon 

513 U.S. at 361, 115 S. Ct. at 886. For example, in a case where the remedy sought was 

reinstatement, the United States Supreme Court reasoned that "[i]t would be both inequitable and 

9 Plaintiff devotes an entire assignment of error to the Circuit Court's citation to Pesterjield v. 
Tennessee Valley Authority, 941 F.2d, 437, 443 (6th Cir. 1991}-a case to which the Circuit 
Court cited once for the proposition that an employer's good faith reliance on a medical opinion 
is not discriminatory even if the opinion is wrong. (JA 24). Plaintiff contends that the case is 
not a summary judgment decision and therefore the Circuit Court erred in its citation. 
(Petitioner's Br. p. 2). As a preliminary matter, the point oflaw for which the Circuit Court cited 
to Pesterjield does not tum on whether the case proceeded to a bench trial. More fundamentally, 
the Circuit Court followed its citation to Pesterjield with a citation to Johnson v. Cleveland City 
Sch. Dist., 443 Fed. Appx. 974, 986 (6th Cir. 2011) for the exact same point of law (JA 24), and 
Johnson was a summary judgment case. Johnson, 443 Fed. Appx. at 975. Thus, even if the 
Circuit Court's reliance on Pesterjield was error (which it was not), the Court's subsequent 
citation to Johnson would render any such error harmless. 
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pointless to order the reinstatement of someone the employer would have terminated, and will 

terminate, in any event and upon lawful grounds." ld. at 362, 115 S. Ct. at 886 (emphasis 

added). In other words, the Supreme Court of the United States has recognized that the after-

acquired evidence doctrine can wholly bar a Plaintiff from his sought-after remedy. ld. 10 

lefferds cannot and should not be required to ignore its discovery during this suit that (1) 

Mr. Woods, while applying to lefferds, was arrested for illegally distributing narcotic pain 

medication and confessed to the same; and (2) that Mr. Woods lied under oath in a court 

proceeding to try and continue concealing the arrest from 1 efferds. Mr. Woods' alleged damages 

are for (1) back pay; (2) front pay; and (3) emotional distress. (JA 37). Here, as in McKennon, it 

would be "both inequitable and pointless" to award Plaintiff back pay, front payor emotional 

damages if he never would have been hired in the first place on indisputably lawful grounds. 

And, as the Circuit Court properly recognized, the record is "undisputed that had lefferds known 

about the arrest, confession and dishonesty, it would never have hired Mr. Woods." (JA 33; 

245). 

B. The application of the after-acquired evidence doctrine is a complete bar to 
damages in a failure-to-hire case on summary judgment was proper (AOE 7). 

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals takes no issue with considering the after-acquired 

evidence doctrine at the summary judgment stage of proceedings and, in doing so, applies the 

typical 'genuine issues of material fact' analysis. Russell v. Microdyne Corp., 65 F.3d 1229, 

1240 (4th Cir. 1995). Federal District Courts within the Fourth Circuit have applied the after-

10 It is of no moment that, but for the litigation Mr. Woods initiated, his arrest and subsequent 
dishonesty about it may not have been discovered: "Once an employer learns about employee 
wrongdoing that would lead to a legitimate discharge, we cannot require the employer to ignore 
the information, even if it is acquired during the course of discovery in a suit against the 
employer and even if the information might have gone undiscovered absent the suit." McKennon 
513 U.S. at 362, 115 S. Ct. at 886. 
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acquired evidence doctrine against failure to hire claims on summary judgment. See Colin v. 

Guilford Cty. Bd. of Educ., No. 1:09CV365, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107473, at *24-25 

(M.D.N.C. Oct. 5,2010) (applying the after-acquired evidence doctrine to unprofessional letters 

the plaintiff wrote as prima facie evidence that plaintiff was not qualified for the position). 

"[T]his Court concludes and holds that Defendant's evidence bearing on Plaintiffs lack of 

qualification to be a high school teacher, although unknown to the principals who did not hire 

him, is relevant and may be relied upon in the determination of Plaintiff s prima facie case of age 

discrimination at the summary judgment stage of review." Id; see also Rich v. Westland 

Printers, No. 92-2475, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8526, at * 14 (D. Md. June 9, 1993) (granting 

summary judgment for employer and reasoning "[t]he present case is akin to the hypothetical 

wherein a company doctor is fired because of his age, race, religion, and sex and the company, in 

defending a civil rights action, thereafter discovers that the discharged employee was not a 

'doctor.' In our view, the masquerading doctor would be entitled to no relief') (citing Summers 

v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 864 F.2d 700, 708 (lOth Cir. 1988)). 

As the Westland Printers Court observed, "[t]he majority of courts which have followed 

Summers, have done so in cases like this, where an employee brings a claim of discriminatory 

discharge and the employer discovers after the discharge that the employee had made material 

misstatements or omissions on his or her job application, which, if known by the employer, 

would have caused the employer to not hire or to discharge the employee." Id. This case is not 

fundamentally different. After Mr. Woods was unable to satisfy the fitness-for-duty 

requirements and subsequent to the commencement of this suit, Jefferds became aware that Mr. 

Woods was arrested for and confessed to illegally selling narcotic pain medication (in a church 

parking lot). (JA 222-25; 244-46). Jefferds further learned that Mr. Woods lied about the 
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circumstances surrounding that arrest in an effort to conceal it in a court proceeding under oath. 

(JA 242; 244-46). Had Jefferds known about the arrest, confession and dishonesty, it would 

never have hired him. (JA 244-46). Accordingly, the Circuit Court properly held that 

Petitioner's claim for damages is barred as a matter of law. 

C. Petitioner's arguments in support of his damages claim focus on his arrest and 
improperly ignore his admission to the crime and subsequent cover-up (AOE 7). 

Petitioner argues that his arrest for distributing narcotic pain medication, in and of itself, 

is an improper factor on which to base a decision not to hire him, citing to well-known guidance 

from the EEOC and case-law regarding the disparate impact that arrest records can potentially 

create in employment decisions. (Petitioner's Br. pp. 14-16). The argument is doubly flawed. 

First, the law Plaintiff cites addresses only disparate impact claims, i.e. employment "practices 

that are fair in form, but discriminatory in operation." Griggs v. Duke Power Co., 401 U.S. 424, 

431 (1970). This case is a disparate treatment case, not a disparate impact case, and therefore 

Plaintiffs cited case law and EEOC guidance is inapplicable. See, e.g., Tyree v. GCA Servs. 

Grp., Inc., Civil Action No. 7:17CV00328, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4063, at *4, *7 (W.D. Va. 

Jan. 9, 2018) (dismissing plaintiffs disparate treatment claim that relied upon the exact EEOC 

guidance to which Petitioner cites in this case, and observing that EEOC's guidance only 

indicates "that an employer's neutral policy on criminal conduct may have a disparate impact on 

a protected class.") (emphasis added). 

Second, Plaintiff s authority is predicated on the notion that "[a ]rrests are not proof of 

criminal conduct." (EEOC Enforcement Guidance Number 915.002, Consideration of Arrest and 

Conviction Records in Employment Decisions Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 
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Section V.B.2, April 25, 2012). Here, as the Criminal Complaint against Mr. Woods makes 

clear, Plaintiff admitted he was guilty: 

Mr. Woods then confessed to having sold the pills to Ernie and that 
Ernie gave him $60.00 for them. Lt. Foster pointed to some US 
currency that was folded lying on the TV stand and asked if that 
was the money Ernie gave him. He replied, some of it, and said 
the three 20's. Lt. Foster asked Mr. Woods how many times had 
had met Ernie at the church and sold him pills and he replied, "4 or 
5 times during the last month." 

(JA 224). Because Mr. Woods admitted to committing the crime for which he was arrested, the 

concern that an arrest is not proof of criminal conduct simply does not apply here. 

Further, Jefferds' after-acquired evidence argument for not hiring Mr. Woods is also 

based on the discovery, just prior to trial, that Plaintiff lied to cover-up his arrest, including lying 

under oath in this litigation. (JA 242). This lie is a central component of Jefferds' after-acquired 

evidence argument; Mr. Woods' arrest is simply not the sole basis for which Jefferds sought 

summary judgment on damages. Plaintiffs failure to account for his admission of guilt and 

subsequent cover-up renders his arguments against the Circuit Court's award summary judgment 

even more erroneous. II 

D. Jefferds timely raised its after-acquired evidence argument for summary judgment 
below and the issue is not waived (AOE 7). 

Two weeks prior to trial, days before the pretrial conference and on the eve of summary 

judgment argument, Plaintiff submitted his sworn statement that he had lied under oath to 

conceal his arrest and corresponding admission of guilt. (JA 242). In his Petition, Mr. Woods 

nonetheless claims that Jefferds' after-acquired evidence argument was untimely raised and is 

II For this reason, Plaintiffs allegation that the affidavit of Jefferds' President (JA 244) "raises a 
new issue of illegal discrimination" is wildly off-base. (Petitioner's Br. p. 13). Mr. Woods lied 
under oath to cover-up a crime he admitted to committing during his interview process. (JA 
242). The statement of Jefferds' President that Jefferds would not have hired Mr. Woods had 
they known all of these facts is entirely legal, appropriate and good business judgment. 
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waived. (Petitioner's Br. p. 13). The irony here is thick: On the eve of trial Plaintiff disclosed 

that he had perjured himself to conceal his criminal actions; now, however, Plaintiff cries foul 

over an argument Jefferds raised in response to Plaintiffs last-minute admission that he had been 

dishonest throughout the litigation. Plaintiffs argument that Jefferds has waived the after

acquired evidence issue is an improper attempt to gain from his own cover-up, and it should be 

rejected. 

Petitioner's waiver argument also repeats his mistake of focusing solely on Mr. Woods' 

arrest. Petitioner argues that his arrest record was disclosed during discovery and that Jefferds

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